IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P. D/B/A HORSESHOE CASINO AND HOTEL

Appellant

VS.

NO. 2009-TS-00570

OLIVIA McCALMAN, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND AS GUARDIAN OF KEVIN ANDREW McCALMAN AND KENNETH ANTHONY McCALMAN, THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF SARAH McCALMAN, DECEASED, AND GERALDINE HOLMES, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MICHAEL LEROY HOLMES, DECEASED

Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF POSITION REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellant respectfully requests oral argument. This appeal presents complicated facts and legal issues, and an oral argument would be beneficial to this Court and to the parties. The Appellant therefore respectfully submits that oral argument would be appropriate in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in entering the Order of Jury Verdict submitted by Plaintiffs' without knowledge or consent of the Defendants?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in finding the defendant, Robinson Property Group jointly and several liable for the action of Rodney Dean?
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in denying defendant's motion for new trial?
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to alter or amend jury verdict?
- 5. Whether the trial court committed error by failing to grant the defendant's motion for directed verdict on all issues made both at the close of the plaintiff's case in chief and again at the close of all proof as Horseshoe should be liable for the action of Rodney Dean.
- 6. The court committed error by failing to allow the jury to apportion negligence against Sara Elizabeth McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes by refusing to include Sara Elizabeth McCalman and Michael Leory Holmes as potentially negligent parties on the jury verdict form.
- 7. The court committed error by failing to provide the following instruction:
 - If you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that Sarah McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes were negligent in allowing themselves to become passengers in the vehicle driven by Synthia Harris then fault should be assessed against them.
- 8. The court committed error by excluding from the jury proof of the facts that Rodney Dean was neither charged with nor convicted of any offense arising

out of the automobile accident, despite the fact that the plaintiff first introduced evidence that Rodney Dean was being investigated for the offense of "DUI".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiffs' filed a Complaint on December 27, 2002, and Amended Complaint filed on May 8, 2003, alleging that on August 8, 2002, the defendant, Robinson Property Group, Limited Partnership d/b/a Horseshoe Casinos (Horseshoe Casino) served alcohol to Rodney Dean, a guest of the Horseshoe, when he was visibly intoxicated. R. Vol. I, p. 55. The plaintiffs' further allege that Mr. Dean became intoxicated as a result of drinking alcohol at the Horseshoe, and as a result of his intoxication was involved in an accident involving Sarah McCalman and Michael Holmes. R. Vol. I, p. 55. The plaintiffs named both Rodney Dean and Horseshoe Casino as defendants in the Amended Complaint. R. Vol. I, p. 54.

The defendant, Horseshoe Casino, filed its answer on May 19, 2003, and Amended Answer Complaint was filed on June 27, 2003, alleging the following:

- 1. Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted against Horseshoe.
- 2. Sarah McCalman was the sole proximate cause or a proximate contributing cause of the alleged subject accident and any purported injuries and/or damage alleged in the Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint.
- 3. The negligence of third parties for whom Horseshoe cannot be held responsible was the sole proximate cause or a proximate contributing cause of the alleged subject accident and any purported injuries/damages alleged in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint.
- 4. Horseshoe affirmatively pleads the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §85-5-7, et seq and asks the trier of fact to make a determination of the percentage of fault, if any attributable to Horseshoe and the percentage of fault attributable to the Plaintiff's decedent and any third parties for whom Horseshoe cannot be held responsible.
- 5. Horseshoe pleads assumption of risk on part of Plaintiffs' decedent.
- 6. Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint fails to join an indispensable party.
- 7. Horseshoe plead the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 67-3-73 (1) and (2).
- 8. Horseshoe avers that the standards for imposition of punitive damages under Mississippi law are unconstitutionally vague, both with respect

to the standards for imposing liability and with respect to the standards for assessing the amount of punitive assessment, which vagueness is violative of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, as well as Article III, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution. Additionally, the application of such vague standards is capricious, disproportionate and not rationally related to any legitimate government interest, which is violative of the same constitutional provisions.

- 9. Horseshoe avers that any claim for punitive damages in this action and the failure to dismiss such claim from this suit forthwith unconstitutionally chills its access to court and counsel and is violative of both substantive and procedural due process provisions of the Fourtheenth and Fifth Amendments of the United States Constitution and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as Article III, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution and Article III, Sections 24 and 25 of the Mississippi Constitution.
- 10. Horseshoe avers that any threat or assessment of punitive damages based on net worth, retained earnings or wealth violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.
- 11. Horseshoe avers that the imposition of any punitive damage award is violative of Article III, Section 28 of the Mississippi Constitution as an excessive fine in this proceeding, which at this junction is quasi-criminal in nature.
- 12. Horseshoe avers that the assessment of punitive damages against it would violate the procedural safeguards afforded it under the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, in that punitive damages are quasi-criminal and penal in nature, and it is entitled to the same procedural safeguards accorded those charged with crimes against the state of against the United States, which are not accorded to it in this proceeding.
- 13. Horseshoe alternatively pleads and invokes Mississippi Code Annotated §11-1-65, as amended, as these provisions relate to determinations and awards of punitive damages in matters in which punitive damages are sought.
- 14. Horseshoe avers that the claims of Geraldine Holmes should be bifurcated.
- 15. Horseshoe invokes and pleads the provisions of the Mississippi Tort Reform Act to the extent that these provisions apply to the alleged cause of action filed on behalf of the Plaintiff Geraldine Holmes, individually and as the wrongful death beneficiary of Micheal Leroy Holmes.

R. Vol. I, pp.83-87.

During the next several years discovery was exchanged between the parties and

the necessary orders were entered extending the deadlines. A Motion to Amend Answer was filed on August 25, 2005, by Horseshoe requesting that the Answer be Amended to allow fault to be assessed against Henry Gillespie, the driver of another car involved in the accident and Synithia Harris, the driver of the vehicle Mr. Holmes and Ms. McCalman were riding. The Mississippi Uniform Accident report provided that Mr. Gillespie's blood alcohol was .08 and Ms. Harris' blood alcohol was also .08 and that she was making a left turn crossing oncoming traffic. R. Vol. 1, pp. 277-78. On September 16, 2005, an Order Granting Motion to Amend Answer was entered. R.Vol. II, p. 304. On September 22, 2005, an Amended Answer was filed making allegations of negligence against Ms. Harris and Mr. Gillespie. R. Vol. II, p. 307. Discovery continued, including depositions of parties and expert witnesses. Jury instructions were filed by the plaintiffs on December 3, 2008. R. Vol. II, pp. 526-58. Motions in limine were filed by plaintiffs' counsel on December 3, 2008. R. Vol. II, pp. 522-25. Objections to plaintiffs' jury instructions were filed by defendant on December 24, 2008. R. Vol. II, p. 568. Responses to plaintiffs' Motions in Limine were filed on December 24, 2009. R. Vol. II, p. 573. Defendant's jury instructions were filed on December 29, 2008. R. Vol. II, pp. 579-600. The defendant filed a Notice of Intent to Offer Medical Records pursuant to 902 for the records from:

> The Regional Medical Center for Rodney Dean Crime Lab Results on Rodney Dean Personnel File Rodney Dean Federal Express

R.Vol. III, p. 604. A Request for Entry of Default was filed by the plaintiffs against Rodney Dean on February 9, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 801. The Affidavit for Default was entered on February 9, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 802. The Default Judgment and Motion for Judgment for Default were entered against Rodney Dean with the court on February 9, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 804-05. The Default Judgment was entered with the court on February 9, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 810. Additional jury instructions were filed by the plaintiff on February 18, 2009. R. Vol. III, pp. 821-824. The jury instructions as admitted, denied or withdrawn are provided within the record. R. Vol. III, pp. 833-864. The jury found for the plaintiffs and assessed fault as listed below:

Rodney Dean 50% Horseshoe 50% Synthia Harris 5%

R. Vol. III, 868. The jury verdict form is provided below:

JURY INSTRUCTION	NO.
------------------	-----

After considering the Court's instructions as a whole, nine or more of us give the following answers to the following questions:

1. Do you find Rodney Dean committed negligence which proximately caused or contributed to the automobile accident?

Yes:	<u> </u>
No:	

(The plaintiffs have the burden of proof. Please go to Question No. 2.)

2. Do you find Horseshoe committed negligence for serving or furnishing

alcohol to	Rodney Dean when he was v	isibly intoxicate	d and that such intoxication
was a pro	ximate cause of the accident?		
	Yes: x		
	No:		
(Ti	ne plaintiffs have the burden o	of proof. Please	go to Question No. 3.)
3.	Do you find Synthia Har	ris committed n	egligence which proximately
caused or	contributed to the automobile	accident?	
	Yes: x		
	No:		
(Tl	ne defendants have the burder	of proof. Pleas	e go to Question No. 4.)
4.		-	ainst each of the following:
••	Rodney Dean	50	_
	Horseshoe	45	_
			_
	Synthia Harris	5	-
	Tota	ıl <u>100</u>	_%
(Pl	ease go to Question No.).		
5.	What is the total an	ount of dam	ages which you find, by
preponde	rance of the evidence, have be	en sustained by:	(Do not reduce the amounts
below for	any percentage of fault. The	Court will addre	ess this).
	via McCalman, as Personal R	-	nd
	Guardian of Kevin Andrew M nneth Anthony McCalman, th		ith
Bei	neficiaries of Sarah McCalma	n, Deceased,	<u>\$700,000</u>
	raldine Holmes, Individually : ongful Death Beneficiaries of		the
	roy Holmes, Deceased,		<u>\$400,000</u>

FOREPERSON

NO. 2002-0471

R. Vol. III, pp. 868-869. Defense counsel had requested to assess fault against both Sarah McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes, but was denied from doing so by the court. R. Trial Tran. p. 794, 795 and 797, R. Excerpt I. Punitive Damages were not awarded to either plaintiff by the jury. R. Vol. III, p. 865. The Judgment on Jury Verdict was signed by the Judge on a date unknown and entered with the court on February 23, 2009. R. Vol. III, pp. 871-872, R. Excerpt D. This was done without the knowledge or consent of the defendant's counsel. R. Vol. III, pp. 875-877. Defense counsel had not seen or agreed to the order. R. The plaintiff's order provided that the defendants Rodney Vol. III, p 875-76. Dean and Horseshoe were jointly and severally liable for each judgment minus the amount assessed against Ms. Harris. R. Vol. III, pp. 872-73, R. Excerpt D. The issue of joint and several liability was specifically argued during the entry of jury instructions. R. Vol. III, p.876. The plaintiffs made a conscious strategic decision at trial not to submit the issue of joint and several liability to the jury. R. Vol. III, p. 876, R. Excerpt H. The plaintiffs withdrew the proposed jury verdict form. R. Vol. III, p. 876. The Amended Complaint filed by the plaintiffs did not allege joint liability for the damages sustained. R. Vol. III, p. 876. By making the defendants jointly and severally liable Horseshoe (the only collectible party) was

now liable for the full amount assessed against both Dean and Horseshoe, rather than just 45%. R. Vol. III, p. 873.

The defendant, Horseshoe filed a Motion to Alter or Amend and Motion for New Trial on February 27, 2008. R. Vol. III, pp. 875-880. The Motion to Alter or Amend set forth the following arguments:

The defendant, Robinson Property Group, L.P., and moves the court for entry of an order altering and amending the Judgment on Jury Verdict signed by the court on February 19, 2009, and entered with the court on February 23, 2009, awarding judgment against the defendants, Rodney Dean and Robinson Property Group, L.P. d/b/a Horseshoe Casino, jointly and severally in the amount of \$380,000.00 to the plaintiff, Olivia McCalman, as Personal Representative and as Guardian of Kevin Andrew McCalman and Kenneth Anthony McCalman, the Wrongful Death beneficiaries of Sarah McCalman, Deceased and \$665,000.00 to the plaintiff, Geraldine Holmes, Individually and on Behalf of the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Michael Leroy Holmes, Deceased and would state the following:

- 1. The order that was presented to the court was presented by the plaintiffs without approval or knowledge of the defendants.
- 2. The order that was entered with the court fails to reflect the jury's findings on both compensatory and punitive damages. The defendants prepared a separate order which is literally consistent with the jury verdict form. The jury did not find joint liability between Rodney Dean and the Horseshoe. The jury did not find, nor was it asked, to find that Rodney Dean and the Horseshoe acted "consciously and deliberately pursuant to a common plan or design to commit a tortious act." This factual finding by the trier of fact is a *sine qua non* for the type of joint liability being argued by the plaintiffs.
- 3. The plaintiffs made the conscious strategic decision at trial not to submit the issue of joint liability to the jury. During the charge conference, plaintiffs' counsel specifically withdrew the proposed jury verdict form that combined the alleged acts of negligence of Rodney Dean and the Horseshoe in favor of a jury verdict form which separated those acts.
- 4. The plaintiffs did not plead that Rodney Dean and the Horseshoe acted "consciously and deliberately pursuant to a common plan or design to commit a tortious act" either in the original Complaint, any amendment to that Complaint or in the pretrial statement itself. The Amended Complaint does not even allege joint liability for the damages sustained. No party is entitled to relief beyond that which is set out in the pleadings.
- 5. The defendant did plead the comparative negligence of Rodney Dean as an affirmative defense in this case and the jury found that he was guilty of acts of negligence different in type and kind from the acts of negligence alleged against the Horseshoe. Pursuant to Mississippi law, absent a finding by the trier of fact that there has

been a conscious and deliberate pursuit of a common plan or design to commit a tortious act, negligent parties are liable in damages in proportion to their percentage of comparative fault.

In all actions hereafter brought for personal injuries, or where such injuries have resulted in death, or for injury to property, the fact that the person injured, or the owner of the property, or person having control over the property may have been guilty of contributory negligence shall not bar a recovery, but damages shall be diminished by the jury in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to the person injured, or the owner of the property, or the person having control over the property.

Miss. Code Ann. §11-7-15

6. This is not the first dram shop act case ever tried or reported. There is no case known to defense counsel reported in the State of Mississippi by which the fault of the tavern and the fault of the intoxicated person have been combined as is being urged by plaintiffs' counsel in this case. If the rule were otherwise, then a specific case cite should be available, but it is not.

R. Vol. III, p. 875, R. Excerpt E.

The defendants filed a separate Motion for New Trial that provided:

The defendant, Robinson Property Group, L.P., pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and moves the court for entry of an order awarding a new trial on all issues and as grounds, therefore, would respectfully allege that the court committed reversible error in the following respects:

- 1. The court committed error by failing to grant the defendant's motion for directed verdict on all issues made both at the close of the plaintiffs' case in chief and again at the close of all proof;
- 2. The court committed error by failing to allow the jury to apportion negligence against Sarah Elizabeth McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes by refusing to include Sarah Elizabeth McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes as potentially negligent parties on the jury verdict form;
 - 3. The court committed error by failing to instruct the jury as follows:

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that Sarah McCalman and Michael Leroy Holmes were negligent in allowing themselves to become passengers in the vehicle driven by Synthia Harris then fault should be assessed against them:

4. The court committed error by excluding from the jury proof of the facts that Rodney Dean was neither charged with nor convicted of any offense arising out of the automobile accident, despite the fact that the plaintiff first introduced evidence that Rodney Dean was being investigated for the offense of "DUI".

R. Vol. III, p. 879, R. Excerpt F.

The plaintiffs filed their Response to Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend on March 5, 2009, along with their Response to Defendant's Motion for New Trial. R. Vol. III, p. 890 and 894. The court denied on March 23, 2009, both Defendants' Motion to Alter and Amend and Motion for New Trial without any finding or hearing. R. Vol. III, pp. 898-899, R. Excerpt B and C. The Notice of Appeal was filed with the court on April 7, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 901. The Designation of Record and Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11(b)1 were filed on April 16, 2009. R. Vol. III, p. 905-908.

III.

RELEVANT FACTS

Robinson Property Group, L.P. is the company which owns and does business as the Horseshoe Casino and Hotel located in Robinsonville, Mississippi. R. Vol. I, 83. The Horseshoe owns and operates its business in such a way as to make the premises reasonably safe for those guests who are exercising reasonable and ordinary care for their own safety. R.Vol. I, 83. The Horseshoe has policies and procedures for concerning the service of alcoholic beverages on its premises, and employees had special training to recognize if someone had too much to drink. R. Tran. 673-674.

On August 8, 2002, it is alleged that Mr. Dean was a guest at the Horseshoe Casino in Robinsonville, Mississippi, and served alcohol when he was visibly intoxicated. Horseshoe denies that Mr. Dean was served alcohol while being visibly intoxicated and further denies that there is any evidence of such. R. Trans. 658, ll. 23-25.

Mr. Dean allegedly left the Horseshoe Casino and traveled northbound on U.S. Highway 61. R. Trans. 157. When he entered the intersection of U.S. Highway 61 and Grand Parkway South, a vehicle driven by Synithia L. Harris and occupied by Sarah McCalman and Michael Holmes, was attempting to make a left-hand turn off of southbound U.S. Highway 61 onto a side street. R. Trans. 159, II. 13-24. The intersection is controlled by a traffic control signal and the light for both drivers was green at the time. R. Tran. 159. Mr. Dean would have had the right of way to proceed through the intersection. R. Tran. 159. Ms. Harris was negligent in the operation of her vehicle in failing to yield to Mr. Dean as evidenced on the jury verdict form. R. Vol. III, pp. 868-869.

As a result of the accident Ms. Harris and Mr. Holmes were both pronounced dead at the scene. Ms. McCalman was transported to Memphis to the Regional Medical Center where she was pronounced dead upon arrival. Ms. Harris and Mr. Holmes were recently married at the time of the collision.

Ms. Harris was the driver of the vehicle in which Mr. Holmes and Ms. Harris were passengers. Ms. Harris had a blood alcohol level of .08. R. Trans. 452. Blood was drawn from all drivers involved in the collision. Mr. Dean's blood alcohol content was .13. R. Trans. 19-24. Ms. Harris' blood alcohol content was .08. R. Tran. 452. A third driver (Henry Gillespie) entered the intersection sometime after the initial collision, striking the crashed cars a second time, and causing additional injuries and damages, and Mr. Gillespie's blood alcohol content was .10.

Fault has been asserted against Ms. Harris for the negligent operation of her vehicle.

Fault was asserted against Ms. McCalman and Mr. Holmes for comparative fault as they voluntarily rode as passengers in a vehicle operated by a person under the influence of alcohol, Ms. Harris.

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