IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2009-TS-00570

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P. D/B/A HORSESHOE CASINO AND HOTEL

APPELLANTS

VS

NO. 2009-TS-00570

OLIVIA MCCALMAN, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND AS GUARDIAN OF KEVIN ANDREW MCCALMAN AND KENNETH ANTHONY MCCALMAN, THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF SARAH MCCALMAN, DECEASED, AND GERALDINE HOLMES, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MICHAEL LEROY HOLMES, DECEASED

APPELLEES

Appealed from the Circuit Court of Tunica County

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Ralph E. Chapman Dana J. Swan CHAPMAN, LEWIS & SWAN P.O. Box 428 Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614 Telephone: (662) 627-4105 Facsimile: (662) 627-4171

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying either the Casino's motion for a new trial or a directed verdict. *Narkeeta Timber Co., Inc. v. Jenkins,* 777 So. 39, 41 (Miss. 2000). The Plaintiffs' proposed jury verdict, which was ultimately accepted by the trial court, was supported by both the laws of Mississippi and the testimony at trial. The jury was properly allowed to allocate fault between Synithia Harris, the Casino and Rodney Dean. The trial court properly refused an instruction which would have allocated fault to the Plaintiffs Michael Holmes and Sarah McCalman as there was no proof of any negligence on their part. Absent such proof, the Casino was not entitled

to such an instruction. Odier v. Sumrall, 353 So.2d 1370, 1374 (Miss.1978).

There was sufficient testimony from Dr. Steven Hayne and from Rodney Dean himself for the jury to conclude that the Casino served alcohol to Dean while he was visibly intoxicated. The testimony of Dean established that he was intoxicated by his own admission. Such testimony created a factual question for the jury. *Treasure Bay Corp. v. Ricard*, 967 So.2d 1235 (Miss 2007). The jury properly allocated fault for the Plaintiffs' damages in the amount of 5% Harris, 45% Casino and 50% Dean. Mississippi Dram Shop Act as a matter of law creates joint and several liability between the server of alcohol and the intoxicated person for damages inflicted on a plaintiff. Miss Code Ann 85-5-7. Finally, the trial court did not commit error in refusing to allow testimony that Dean was not charged with DUI. *Hughes v. Tupelo Oil Company*, Inc. 510 So.2d 502, 504 (Miss. 1987).

V.

ARGUMENT

Although it does not specifically appear that Statement of Issue Number 3, dealing with the trial court's denial of a new trial was addressed by the Casino, out of an abundance of caution, the Plaintiffs would state that the trial court acted properly. A trial court will not be reversed for denying a motion for a new trial unless the trial court abused its discretion. *Narkeeta Timber Co., Inc. v. Jenkins,* 777 So. 39, 41 9Miss. 2000). The central issue in this case was whether or not the Casino served Rodney Dean alcohol on their premises while he was visibly intoxicated. The Plaintiffs presented the testimony of their expert, Dr. Steven Hayne, who testified that the Casino Defendant served Rodney Dean alcohol while he was visibly intoxicated. Dr. Hayne was accepted by the trial court as an expert. Dean also admitted that he was intoxicated. Based upon the applicable standard, the trial court correctly denied the Casino's motion for a new trial. Furthermore, the Casino put on their own expert, Dr. Anthony Verlangieri, who offered testimony that contradicted that of Dr.

Hayne. Again, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial based upon the applicable standard as a jury issue was presented for the jury's consideration.

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN ENTERING THE PLAINTIFFS' ORDER ON JURY VERDICT

1. The Plaintiffs' Action in Submitting a Proposed Order on Jury Verdict to the Trial Court was Proper.

Initially, the Casino complains that the proposed order forwarded to the trial court on the jury verdict was somehow improper because it was made without notice. The Casino offers no authority for this proposition, therefore, the Court should not address it. *Spalding v. Spalding*, 691 So.2d 435, 439 (Miss.1997)(Court will not address assignment of error to which no authority is cited). However, the record reflects that the Casino received all notice required. The jury returned a verdict on February 12, 2009. On February 19, 2009, the Plaintiffs mailed a copy of their proposed jury verdict to the trial court with a copy to the Casino's attorneys, the Honorable Robert L. Moore and the Honorable Dawn Davis. On that same date of February 19, 2009, the Plaintiffs' also faxed at 13:09 a copy of the proposed order to the same attorneys. On the next day of February 20, 2009, the Casino mailed and faxed their proposed order to the trial court, as well as to the Plaintiffs' attorneys. Three days later on February 23, 2009, the trial court entered the Plaintiffs' order.

Although the Casino offers no authority that this procedure was improper, there is nothing in Rules 54 or 58 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure which would require any other action on the part of the Plaintiffs. In addition, there is nothing in Rules 54 or 58, nor of case law which requires that the trial court hold a hearing before entering an order on a judgment.

2. The Order Entered Reflected the Jury's Findings on Both Compensatory and Punitive Damages and the Motion to Alter or Amend was Properly Denied

.

Initially, it should be noted that the Jury did not find for the Plaintiffs on the issue of punitive

damages, and the Plaintiffs' order on jury verdict so reflects. The judgment reflected the jury's finding that Horseshoe Casino was 45% at fault. Rodney Dean was 50% at fault, and that Synithia Harris was 5% at fault. The Appellees would state that the Dram Shop Act requires that a casino and an intoxicated patron who causes an accident are jointly and severally liable for any injury. When this cause was filed in December of 2002, the then applicable Miss Code Ann 85-5-7 provided that "except as may be otherwise provided in subsection (6) of this section, in any civil action based on fault, the liability for damages caused by two (2) or more persons shall be joint and several only to the extent necessary for the person suffering injury, death or loss to recover fifty percent (50%) of his recoverable damages." Subsection (6) states in part that "joint and several liability shall be imposed on all who consciously and deliberately pursue a common plan or design to commit a tortious act, or actively take part in it." The Dram Shop Act provides at Miss Code Ann 67-3-73 that "the Mississippi Legislature finds and declares that the consumption of intoxicating beverages, rather than the sale or serving or furnishing of such beverages, is the proximate cause of any injury, including death and property damage, inflicted by an intoxicated person upon himself or upon another person." Had the statute provided that it was the sale, rather than the consumption, of alcoholic beverages that was the proximate cause, then arguably a separate cause of action might exist against the Casino which would render it then only severally liable rather than jointly liable. Further the version of Miss Code Ann 85-5-7, which was effective when this cause of action accrued, provided that joint and several liability "shall be imposed on all who consciously and deliberately pursue a common plan or design to commit a tortious act, or actively take part in it." Both the Casino and Dean actively took part in a common plan to have Dean consume alcoholic beverages while on the premises of the Casino. As a matter of law, these facts make Horseshoe and Dean jointly and severally liable for 95% of the damages.

This interpretation is consistent with *Treasure Bay Corp. v. Ricard*, 967 So.2d 1235 (Miss 2007) which held that Dr. Haynes' opinion that Treasure Bay's patron was visibly intoxicated while being served alcohol was sufficient to defeat summary judgment in favor of Treasure Bay. To reach this holding, this Court must have concluded that the intoxicated patron and the casino are jointly and severally liable as the only proof in the record was that the patron consumed alcohol while being visibly intoxicated on Treasure Bay's premises.

The Casino argues that the jury did not find joint liability between Rodney Dean and the Casino nor was it asked to find that Dean and the Casino acted "consciously and deliberately pursuant to a common plan or design to commit a tortious act." The argument is without merit. Upon the factual finding that the Casino, served Dean alcohol while he was visibly intoxicated and that Dean's intoxication was the proximate cause of the accident, joint liability is imposed by law upon the Casino.

3. The Plaintiffs Pled That the Casino was Jointly and Severally Liable for the Actions of Rodney Dean

There is no merit to the arguments that the Plaintiffs did not plead that Rodney Dean and the Casino acted "consciously and deliberately pursuant to a common plan or design to commit a tortuous act." Although other counts in the Plaintiffs' Complaint are sufficient under notice of pleading to present such a charge, Count 4 states as follows:

Plaintiffs charge that the Defendant Casino embarked upon a plan, course of action, habit, routine and conduct to entice gamblers to their Casino with advertisements of monetary awards, fun, food, excitement and **free liquor**. While there, the Defendant Casino . . . provided free liquor to the gamblers, particularly, those gambling large amounts in an effort to cause gamblers to stay longer, gamble more, and tip the waitresses more, and do so recklessly while under the influence in order to profit the Casino more and as such, this amounts to gross negligence in that the Defendant Casino knew the vast majority of gamblers, Defendant, Rodney Dean included, would

operate their vehicles to return home and endanger themselves and the traveling public.

Count 4 more than satisfies the requirements of pleading requirements under applicable Mississippi law. See Eg. *B & W Farms v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n*., 922 So.2d 857, 858-859 (Miss. 2006)(all notice pleading requires is that the opposing party be placed on notice of the claim asserted).

On page 23 of their brief, the Casino states: "This issue was argued to the court prior to submission of jury instructions to the jury and the trial court found they should not be joined together." However, what actually happened is that the Plaintiffs' counsels specifically withdrew their proposed jury instructions P-21 that combined the alleged acts of the negligence of Dean and the Casino in favor of a jury verdict form which separated these acts.¹ (T. 794-797). It should be

Jury Instruction P-21 read as follows:

1

1.

You are instructed to first read the entire instruction before answering any part of this instruction.

Do you find from the preponderance of the evidence that Robinson Property Group, L.P., d/b/a Horseshoe Casinos, through its employees served Rodney Dean an alcoholic beverage while he was visibly intoxicated? ______Yes _____No. If you answered "No" to the question above, stop and proceed no further, and advise the

Bailiff that you have reached your verdict. If you answered "Yes" proceed to the next question.

- 2. Do you find from the preponderance of the evidence that the negligence of Rodney Dean proximately caused or contributed to Plaintiffs' Decedents damages?
 - _____ Yes _____ No.

3. If you answered "No" to the previous questions, proceed no further and notify the Bailiff that you have reached your verdict. If you answer "Yes", proceed to the next question.

- 4. Assign to each person or entity listed below the percentage of fault you attribute in proximately causing or contributing to the death of SARAH MCCALMAN AND MICHAEL LEROY HOLMES
 - % Robinson Property Group, L.P., d/b/a Horseshoe Casinos
 - _____% Synithia Harris

Your percentage must total 100%.

- 5. Set forth the total amount of damages incurred by the plaintiffs as a result of the death of SARAH MCCALMAN, (Do not reduce this amount for any percentage of fault as the Court will address this)
- 6. Set forth the total amount of damages incurred by the plaintiffs as a result of the death of MICHAEL LEROY HOLMES, (Do not reduce this amount for any percentage of fault as the Court will address this)
 \$

(R. 836-837).

noted that the Plaintiffs' counsel repeatedly stated that "we feel that under the law that Dean and Horseshoe are one and the same for apportionment purposes." (T. 796). This withdrawal of the jury instruction is of no consequence. Indeed, it was absolutely necessary for the jury to separate the fault of the Casino with that of Dean. In order for the jury to find for the Plaintiff against the Casino, the jury would have to find that the Casino first served alcoholic beverages to Dean while he was visibly intoxicated. The jury found in favor of the Plaintiffs on this issue. Next, the jury would have to find that the intoxication of Dean caused the accident. The jury also found in favor of the Plaintiff on this issue. It was, therefore, necessary for the jury to consider both acts of negligence. The jury could have found that the Casino had no negligence and that Dean was 100% responsible for the accident. Under that scenario, of course, the Casino would not be liable. It would have been improper for the jury not to apportion fault against both Defendants, as opposed to assigning fault to both Defendants together. There is no merit to the Casino's position. Further, there is no merit to the argument of the Casino that there must be a finding of fact that there has been a conscious and deliberate pursuit of a common plan or design to commit a tortuous act.

It should noted that Miss. Code Ann § 11-7-15, cited by the Casino in support of their position, is not even applicable to the argument that the Casino appears to be putting forth. This statute addresses the comparative fault of a Plaintiff with respect to a defendant, not the fault of co-defendants. As previously stated, the Dram Shop Act itself when coupled with the appropriate joint liability statute, creates joint and several liability upon a Casino and an intoxicated patron who causes an accident. Therefore, Horseshoe Casino is liable for both the 45% fault for which the jury assigned to the Casino as well as the 50% fault which the jury assigned to Defendant Dean.

i

ι

1

For the reasons so stated, the Casino's motion to alter or amend the judgment was properly denied.

B. THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON ALL ISSUES MADE AT THE CLOSE OF THE PLAINTIFFS' CASE IN CHIEF AND AGAIN AT THE CLOSE OF ALL PROOF AS HORSESHOE SHOULD BE LIABLE FOR THE ACTIONS OF RODNEY DEAN PURSUANT TO THE DRAM SHOP ACT

The Casino completely ignores the testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne who testified that Rodney Dean would have been visibly intoxicated when being served alcoholic beverages. The Court recognized Dr. Havne as an expert in the field of pathology, toxicology, cause of death, blood alcohol and the effects of blood alcohol to be specific. (T. 404). For the past twenty or so years, Dr. Hayne has limited his practice to anatomic, clinical and forensic pathology. (T. 399). For the past ten years, Dr. Hayne has performed around 1800 autopsies. (T. 401). He performed an autopsy on both Michael Holmes and Synithia Harris. (T. 402). He reviewed the Mississippi Crime Lab report on blood alcohol taken from Rodney Dean. (T. 404). A sample was taken in the usual customary fashion of the Mississippi Crime Lab. (T. 405). The sample was drawn at 1 o'clock in the morning, the day after the crash. (T. 404). Dr. Hayne was given a hypothetical, with no objection from the Casino's counsel, to assume that Dean had not eaten anything during the sixteen hours he was at the Casino. Further that Dean went to the Horseshoe Casino at around 4 or 5 a.m. and stayed there until some point immediately proceeding that accident which occurred about 8:35 p.m. on the same day. Dr. Hayne was asked to further assume that he quit drinking alcohol at least an hour before he departed the Horseshoe Casino and consumed no alcohol after the crash. In utilizing generally accepted alcohol absorption and elimination equations, with the value of 0.13% alcohol taken at 1 o'clock in the morning following the date of the accident, Dr. Hayne testified that at the time he left the Casino his blood alcohol content would have been 0.18.

ſ

i

Dr. Hayne also had available a blood alcohol test from the Regional Medical Center which

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